FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 MAR 22 AM 8: 21

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY___

NO. 48322-0-II

COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

LONNIE RAY TRAYLOR a.k.a. RIGHT WORSHIPFUL LONNIE RAY TRAYLOR

Appellant

V

MOST WORSHIPFUL PRINCE HALL GRAND LODGE F. & A.M. WASHINGTON AND JURSIDICTION and MOST WORSHIPFUL GRAND MASTER, GREGORY D. WRAGGS, SR.

Respondent (s)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County , Washington
The Honorable Bryan Chuschoff

Lonnie Ray Traylor,
Pro Se - Appellant
PO Box 5937 - Lacey, WA 98509

I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from the court granting Respondent, Most Worshipful

Prince Hall Grand Lodge F & AM Washington and Jurisdiction and Most

Worshipful Gregory D. Wraggs, motion for summary judgement.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- a. The court erred in not granting appellant Motion for Default
- b. The court erred in not demanding or sanction Respondent Attorney Fowler for never providing appellant request for discovery that was requested.
- c. The court erred in not sanction Respondent Attorney Fowler court for filing a bogus order dismissing the case without trial and without prejudice.
- d. The court erred in not considering their instruction given to appellant to visit Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to determine what discovery he had to offer and report back to the court it findings
- e. The court erred in not sanctioning Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for not timely respond to appellant Summary Judgement entered on July 31, 2015.
- f. The court erred in not sanctioning Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for not complying with the Case Order Schedule.
- g. The court erred in to consider discover evidence presented by Appellant to show the meeting between (Wraggs) and (Traylor) in fact did happen on July 24, 2014,
- h. The court erred to consider discover evidence presented by Appellant to show that the 111th Annual Communication do not show that the Grand Lodge took a actual majority vote to suspend Appellant.
- i. The court erred to consider discover evidence presented by Appellant to show that the 111th Annual Communication do not show that the Grand Master Annual Report does not show that any official action was taken against Appellant.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- j. The court erred in ruling against Respondent Attorney (Fowler) stood in court on (3) three different hearings and stated that "All of the Discovery Information Appellant is requesting is in my office." Only later to inform Appellant that the Masonic Trial Tape Recording is not available and cannot be found.
- k. The court erred in considering Mr. Melvin Lozan acted as Judge and Juror and did not allow Appellant opportunity to present his case. The court failed at holding the Grand Lodge accounting for not following it own rules and violating Appellant rights of due process.
- 1. The court erred in considering that the Grand Lodge did not allow Appellant opportunity to appeal his call before the Grand Assembly during Grand Session.
- m. The court erred in considering Declaration Statements or Affidavits on provided on behalf of Appellant.
- n. The court erred in t ruling granting Summary Judgement to Respondent Attorney (Fowler)

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Why did the court grant Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent when all of the evidence was never submitted to prove if Appellant was guilty?

The court granting Respondent, Prince Hall Grand Lodge F & AM Washington and Jurisdiction and (Wraggs) motion for summary judgement without demanding proof of evidence requested by appellant of the 111th Annual Communication Audio Recording, Masonic Trial Tape, Consider the untimely filling and Bogus Order file by Respondent Attorney (Fowler).

2. Why did the court Not Demand Respondent to produce discovery since it was requested in the original complaint?

On February 26, 2015 and July 12, 2015, Appellant filed Request for Production and Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for never provided appellant request for discovery that was requested. In fact the record will reflect that Respondent Attorney (Fowler) stated that he was in possession of the requested production on several occasion only later state that the audio tape could not be found and could not be made available.

3. Why did the court Not Sanction of Discipline Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for filing a Bogus Order to Dismiss Appellant Complaint?

On April 3, 2015, the court ruled not to dismiss appellant complaint, however, Respondent Attorney (Fowler) filed a bogus order dismissing the case without trial and without prejudice on April 3, 2015 that was corrected by the court on April 7, 2015, after it was brought to the attention of the court by appellant.

4. Why did the court Not Consider the instruction given to Appellant to visit Respondent Attorney (Fowler) office to review and examine discovery?

On June 5, 2015, Appellant reported back to the court that during Appellant visit and reviewed discovery there were No Masonic Trial Tape of him and neither was there any Audio Recordings of the 111th Annual Communication that the Respondent Attorney (Fowler) stated he had in his office. As of November 6, 2015, Appellant had yet to receive any of the requested production of documents and the court rule in Favor of Respondent without requiring Respondent Attorney Fowler to produce discovery that would prove Appellant was guilty of the allege allegations. This case having been heard on April 3, 2015, the court advised Appellant to visit Respondent Attorney (Fowler) office to review whatever discovery he had and report back to the court the findings and if Respondent did not produce discovery that the court would order them to do so. Instead the court ruled otherwise.

5. Why did the court Not Sanction Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for failing to comply with or follow the Case Order Schedule?

On July 31, 2015, Appellant filed his Witness List in accordance with the Case Order Schedule. Respondent Attorney (Fowler) never filed his Witness List and had until September 5, 2015 to do so. All which appear to failed due to timeline in accordance to CR 12 (4) or the Case Order Schedule.

6. Why did the court Not hold Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to same standard as Appellant for failing to file his documents timely?

On February 6, 2015, hearing the court instructed Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to timely served Appellant and (Fowler) failed to comply throughout the entire case.

7. Why did the court Not consider discover evidence presented by Appellant to show that the meeting between Respondent (Wraggs) and Appellant (Traylor) when in fact did happen on July 24, 2014?

Appellant and Respondent (Wraggs) meet on July 24, 2015, to discuss the false allegation that Appellant had been suffering over the past 10 years. (Wraggs) stated to the Appellant that he wanted to reinstate him, but he need to repeal his Grievance filed against the Grand Lodge and Not Pursue Legal Actions against the Grand Lodge.

Appellant and Respondent (Wraggs) agreed to the terms and Respondent (Wraggs) asked Appellant to put the agreement in writing. Appellant complied with Respondent (Wraggs) request only later to have (Wraggs) renege on the agreement and declare under penalty that none of the aforementioned occurred.

Therefore, Appellant had no other choice but to pursue legal action in Civil Court to clear his name of being accused of stealing or misappropriation of funds from the organization, his church and private citizen all of which have never been proven

8. Why did the court Not consider the Masonic Law Title 51.05 Majority Vote which in part that states" All motions are to decided by a simple majority vote?"

The court finding was contrary to Masonic Law whereby the court ruled to say that the Grand Lodge voted to affirm Appellant suspension, however the 111th Annual Communication Minutes/Proceedings does not show or prove that a vote was ever taken on Appellant . The 111th Annual Communication minutes shows a motion being made seconded and carried, it does not show a Majority Vote taking place.

9. Why did the court Not consider the discovery 111th Annual Communication Minutes provided by Respondent showing that Appellant name does not appear in Grand Master Patrick L. Hughes, Annual Address?

Appellant also argue that this is a violation of Article 13.19 when not reported all actions becomes Null and Void. Appellant argues that if the Grand Master did not mention him in his report then no action under no circumstance should have been taken. Article 13.19 of the Masonic Code Book states" He shall report all his acts and decisions to the Grand Lodge for its approval."

10. How can the court determine its ruling in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) when he stood in court on (3) three different hearings and stated that "All of the Discovery Information Appellant is requesting is in my office?"

Only later to inform Appellant that the Masonic Trial Tape Recording is not available and cannot be found?

11. How can the court determine such ruling in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler)?

When the court instructed Appellant visit (Fowler) office to see what discovery he had to offer, during Appellant visit it was discovered that the Audio Recordings of the 111th Annual Grand Session was not available. Nor was Appellant Masonic Trial Tape which (Fowler) have stated he had in his office. (Failure to Present Discovery) The court failed at demanding discover on behalf of Appellant to prove his innocence and shows a lack of due process.

12. Why did the court Not consider Mr. Melvin Lozan action?

Acting as Judge and Juror by not allowing Appellant opportunity to present his case is a violation of Appellant of due process.

14. Why did the court Not consider that action of the Grand Lodge?

Preventing Appellant opportunity to appeal before the Grand Assembly during Grand Session is a violation of Appellant of due process.

15. Why did the court Not consider Declaration Statements or Affidavits provided on behalf of Appellant?

Appellant filed Declaration statement from the Pastor of his Church, Members of the Organization and other Private citizen.

16. Why did the court render it ruling granting Summary Judgement to Respondent Attorney (Fowler) on the premise that Appellant wanted to be restored to his position and he had not requested additional time for discovery?

Appellant filed his complaint specifically on the grounds of Unfair Treatment, Deformation of Character, Being Accused of Theft and Discrimination.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the Appellant being subjected to discrimination, unfair treatment, deformation of character, and accused of theft internally and externally by the Most Worshipful Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Washington and Its Jurisdiction.

Respondent appears to be confused to Appellant complaint possibly, because this is a CIVIL case and NOT a Masonic Case.

Appellant filed his complaint on November 12, 2014, Respondent did not answer until 74 days had elapsed after Appellant filed Motion for Default on February 6, 2015. specifically on the grounds aforementioned to which Respondent Attorney (Fowler) and his client have still yet to answer. (CP -1)

Appellant assert that the court advise Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to try and and maybe settle this matter. (RP - 24) ¹

Appellant has been accused by this organization of stealing and misappropriation of money from his church, private citizen, and the organization since 2001. (CP - 458) (APPENDIX - 26). (RP - 16) ²

The Grand Lodge has conducted numerous audits and they have never proven any facts that Appellant have stolen or misappropriation of any funds from the organization, Church or any person to which Appellant been accused.

Appellant, request that the Court DO NOT DISMISS Complaint because the Court does have Jurisdiction to hear matter as this is NOT a petty dispute over membership in a Masonic Grand Lodge! (CP 1)

^{1.} Report of Proceedings Hearing on April 3, 2015 - "Appellant assert that the court advise Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to try and maybe settle this matter." 2. Report of Proceedings Hearing on December 6, 2015 - "My argument, Your Honor, is from this period, these accusations, misappropriation, slander, defamation of character."

The Respondents have violated their own Constitution and By-Laws (Masonic Code Book) by unfairly treating, Appellant over the past Ten (10) years

On January 26, 2015 Appellant filed Motion for Default that was referred to Judge Bryan Chushcoff court. (CP - 145)

On February 9, 2015, Appellant filed Request for Discovery and on February 27, 2015, went before the court seeking assistance in acquiring discovery evidence. Respondent Attorney (Fowler) stated that he was in possession of "ALL of the information being requested and had no problem providing it to Appellant.

On March 9, 2015, Plaintiff filed a Objection to the Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff, request that the Court Do Not Dismiss Complaint because the Court do have jurisdiction to hear this matter. (CP 169 - 170)

On April 3, 2015 the court advise Appellant to visit Respondent Attorney (Fowler) office to review whatever discovery Respondent Attorney (Fowler) had and report back to the court the findings and if the Respondents did not produce discovery that the court would order them to do so. (RP - 20) ³

On April 26, 2015, Appellant visited (Fowler) office to see what discovery he had to offer, during Appellant visit it was discovered that the Audio Recordings of the 111th Annual Grand Session was not available neither were Appellant Masonic Trial Tape which (Fowler) have stated he had in his office. (Failure to Present Discovery)

The court failed at demanding discover on behalf of Appellant to prove his innocence and shows a lack of due process. (CP 305 - 306)

^{3.} Report of Proceedings Hearing on February 27 2015 - "MR. FOWLER: We have those. **4.** Report of Proceedings Hearing on April 3, 2015 - "Now, as I say, I'm denying the motion without prejudice at this time so the discovery can actually take place pursuant to CR 56 (f)."

On June 5, 2015, Appellant reported back to the court after review and present a show of violations and examination of discovery. ($\mathbf{RP} - \mathbf{4} - \mathbf{19}$)

As of November 6, 2015, Appellant had yet to receive any of the allege missing discovery (Audio Files and Original Minutes) of the requested production of documents and the court rule in favor of Respondent without requiring Respondent

Attorney (Fowler) to produce discovery that would prove Appellant was guilty of the allege allegations. (RP - 20) ⁴

The Court failed to sanction Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for not complying with Appellant request of discovery for production after making four (4) request in accordance with CR 26 and CR 34. (CP - 413)

This finding was contrary to Washington Law which holds that in CR 26 and CR 34. Discovery Methods. Parties may obtain discovery by one or more of the following methods: depositions upon oral examination or written questions; written interrogatories; production of documents or things or permission to enter upon land or other property, for inspection and other purposes; physical and mental examinations; and requests for admission. (CP - 531)

Appellant asserts that he did not walk out of the trial, is recorded on the alleged missing MASONIC TRIAL TAPE and the Grand Lodge did not and have not produce the evidence to prove other wise and prevented Appellant from his case appealing before the Grand Assembly neither did the court did not demand Respondent Attorney (Fowler) to produce discovery is a violation of Appellant due process. (CP - 531, 532), (CP - 448)

This finding was contrary to Masonic Unchangeable Landmarks whereby all member have a right to appeal before the Grand Assembly. (APPENDIX 270)

^{4.} Report of Proceedings Hearing on December 6, 2015 - "MR. FOWLER: The Masonic trial tape of the underlying trial doesn't exist as far as we can tell."

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice, and not hold the Grand Lodge accountable to their own rules and regulation as well as the civil court rules and violated Appellant due process both procedural and substantive. (CP - 532)

On June 12, 2015, Appellant filed Fourth Request for Discovery and to no avail Respondent Attorney (Fowler) continue to ignore Appellant request for the missing evidence needed to prove his innocence. (**CP - 418**)

On July, 31, 2015, Appellant filed Motion for Summary Judgement Motion to Grant Summary Judgment for the following reasons and in accordance with CR 56 (C), whereby, appellant being subjected to unfair treatment, harassment and deformation of character and accused of theft and discrimination. (CP - 420)

Appellant asserts here again that, Respondent Attorney (Fowler) failed to comply with property timeline filings and did not respond until after 92 days later filing a Summary Judgement to dismiss the case.

On July 31, 2014, Appellant Replied Respondent Attorney (Fowler) Motion Summary Judgement by Objecting to his untimely filing and response time.

(CP 436-439)

On July 31, 2015 Appellant filed his Witness List, here again Respondent Attorney (Fowler) never filed his Witness List which was due on September 5, 2015. (CP 432)

This finding is contrary to Washington Law and the court did not at anytime sanction Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for being in non-compliance of filing his briefs in a timely manner.

Neither did the court discipline Respondent Attorney (Fowler) for non-compliance or hold him to the same standards as Appellant in adhering to the Washington Court Laws.

Appellant finds that the Court failed to find that the Respondent did not comply with proper filing timelines in accordance with CR 12 to respond timely.

Appellant was not treated equally and it appear to be prejudice that the court did not hold Respondent Attorney Fowler to the same standards as the court held Pro Se Traylor when representing Himself. Appellant filed all of his document timely and Respondent Attorney (Fowler) have been negligent in his filings throughout the entire process the case.

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice, and failed to consider the evidence submitted by Appellant in regards to Appellant and (Wraggs) meeting held on July 24, 2014, whereby in fact the meeting did take place between Appellant and (Wraggs) and both agreed upon mutual agreement asking Appellant to prepare a Letter, Memorandum of Understanding or Contract and mail it to his home mailing address. (APPENDIX 224-229)

Appellant complied with (Wraggs) request only later to have (Wraggs) renege on the agreement and declare under penalty that none of the aforementioned occurred and stating that the Grand Lodge had taken a vote to discipline Appellant.

Therefore, Appellant had no other choice but to pursue legal action in Civil Court to clear his name of being accused of stealing or misappropriation of funds from the organization, his church and private citizen all of which have never been proven.

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice, and not hold the Grand Lodge accountable to their own rules and regulation violated Appellant due process both procedural and substantive.

The finding was contrary to Masonic Law whereby the court ruled to say that the Grand Lodge voted to affirm Appellant suspension, however the minutes of the 111th Annual Communication does not show or prove that a vote was ever taken on Appellant. (CP - 536), (APPENDIX 224-229), (APPENDIX 338) (RP - 10) ⁵

Appellant explained to the court on November 6, 2015, that what is written is not the actual process, Appellant gave the court and example of how to derive to a Majority by using the number 100 and 51 would result in a majority. (**RP - 10**) ⁶

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice and fail in its ruling because of not considering the actual evidence annotated in the 111th Annual Communication minutes that no actual vote was ever taken and neither have Respondent Attorney (Fowler) produced or provided any evidence proving otherwise. (RP - 16 - 17)

Appellant name only appear in Annual Allocution of the Grand Master show that Appellant name appears in outgoing correspondence anywhere in his report to be voted on by the Grand Body. (CR 318, - 323), (CR - 538), (APPENDIX 386-397)

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice that on the June 5, 2015, hearing, stating that the Appellant was not a suspended mason because if there was no actual vote, Appellant is not a suspended member. Appellant replied that he know that but evidentially the Grand Lodge did not. (RP - 10)

^{5.} Report of Proceedings Hearing on December 6, 2015 - I have never had an opportunity to come before this body impartially and present my case and neither has the defendant provided any evidence." **6.** THE COURT: "So, apparently, you are still a member."

Appellant asserts that the court ruled in favor of Respondent Attorney (Fowler) with prejudice that the court fail in its ruling because of not considering the actual evidence.

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