FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 JUN -9 AM 11: 39

No. 48322-0-II

STATE OF W BY.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

LONNIE RAY TRAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

MOST WORSHIPFUL PRINCE HALL GRAND LODGE F&AM WASHINGTON AND JURISDICTION and GREGORY D. WRAGGS, SR., Most Worshipful Grand Master,

Respondents.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James C. Fowler VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP 999 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98104-4088 Telephone: (206) 386-5904 Facsimile: (206) 464-0484

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

PART I: THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Mr. Traylor's Complaint was difficult to interpret, but Judge Chushcoff had ample factual and legal bases for granting summary judgment dismissing any claims Mr. Traylor was possibly attempting to assert.

This Court's review of the summary judgment decision is *de novo*. *Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port of Seattle,* 87 Wn.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976). At the Trial Court, the Grand Lodge bore the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact. *See, LaPlante v. State,* 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975). Once it did so, Mr. Traylor had the burden of "by affidavits or as otherwise provided in [CR 56], [setting] forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Mr. Traylor could not rely on allegations in pleadings or Declarations that merely contained legal conclusions. *See, e.g., Orion Corp v. State,* 103 Wn.2d 441, 461 - 462, 693 P.2d 1369 (1985).

In addition, Mr. Traylor as a *pro se* litigant is generally held to the same standard as an attorney. *Carver v. State of Washington*, 147 Wn.App. 567, 575 (2008) (noting exception for mentally disabled *pro se* plaintiff); *Batten v. Abrams*, 28 Wn.App. 737, 739 n. 1, 626 P.2d 984, *review denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1033 (1981).

As is set forth below, Mr. Traylor never presented any admissible evidence sufficient to avoid summary judgment on any of the claims he was possibly asserting.

1. Mr. Traylor's discrimination claim was properly dismissed because Mr. Traylor never alleged any facts sufficient to support a claim under the WLAD. The WLAD only protects "the right to be free from discrimination *because of* race, creed, color, national origin, sex, honorably discharged veteran or military status, sexual orientation, or the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability". RCW 49.60.030(1).

At the Trial Court and to this Court, Mr. Traylor failed to ever allege either his membership in a protected class or that any actions of the Grand Lodge were motivated by animus against such a class. Mr. Traylor repeatedly asserts that he was "discriminated against", but Mr. Traylor does not present a shred of evidence, or even assert, that the Grand Lodge took action "because of" Mr. Traylor's race.

Nor was there any conceivable ground for a discrimination claim that Mr. Traylor, as a *pro se*, may have overlooked. The Grand Lodge is comprised of black males and Mr. Traylor is a black male. He was certainly not singled out for his race or gender as his race and gender are the same as everyone else's in the Grand Lodge.

It is frustrating to say the least that in his appeal brief Mr. Traylor repeats his mantra that he was discriminated against (Traylor Brief, pp. 1, 14, 15, 23, 24, 38 and 39). Mr. Traylor received clear briefing from the Grand Lodge on this issue at the Trial Court (CP 716, 765-766). Judge Chushcoff instructed him on this issue (VRP April 3, 2015, pp. 15–16; VRP November 6, 2015, pp. 18–19). Nonetheless, in this appeal, Mr. Traylor ignores the law, never addresses the deficiencies in his claim, and continues to fling out the same baseless claims. It is for this reason that the Grand Lodge seeks to recover its fees in this appeal.

2. Any claims from ten or four years prior to the Complaint are barred by the statute of limitations. Mr. Traylor also continues to complain that his damages started ten years before filing his suit (Traylor Brief, pp. 6, 7, 14, 15 and 23), and that his exclusion from Grand Lodge Annual Communications started four years before filing suit (Traylor Brief, p. 15). Any conceivable claims that Mr. Traylor might have from ten or four years prior to the Complaint are governed and barred by the three year statute of limitations set forth in RCW 4.16.080(2) (three year statute for "any other injury to the person or rights of another not hereinafter enumerated") and were properly dismissed. Again, Mr. Traylor received clear briefing on this issue at the Trial Court (CP 716-717, 766). And again, in this appeal, Mr. Traylor never mentions the applicable statute of limitations, and never attempts to address the deficiencies in his claim.

3. If Mr. Traylor is asserting breach of contract against Mr. Wraggs, that claim fails for indefiniteness and lack of consideration. Mr. Traylor also references an alleged "contract" to revoke his suspension. But an enforceable contract generally requires consideration, and whether consideration supports a contract is a question of law. *Hanks v. Grace*, 167 Wn.App. 542, 548, 273 P.2d 1029 (2012). In this case, Mr. Traylor does not allege any consideration for Mr. Wraggs, and none exists.

In addition, it also is clear from Mr. Traylor's pleadings that he is alleging "an agreement to agree", a "contract" that is too indefinite for enforcement, an additional ground for summary judgment. *See, e.g., 16th Street Investors, LLC v. Morrison,* 153 Wn.App. 44, 54-55, 223 P.3d 513 (2009) ("Agreements to agree are unenforceable in Washington."). In fact, Mr. Traylor himself only alleges that they "agreed to come up with a memo of understanding" (CP 3), and submitted several draft agreements that were materially different from one another, conclusively demonstrating there was no final agreement on anything (CP 223-229).

Mr. Traylor received clear briefing on these issues at the Trial Court (CP 717, 766). And again, in this appeal, Mr. Traylor never mentions these issues, never attempts to address the deficiencies in his claim, and never makes any effort to understand or address the legal issue on appeal.

4. The Trial Court properly declined to exercise jurisdiction over Mr. Traylor's claim to be reinstated as a Grand Lodge member, and properly left that issue to the members of the Grand Lodge. Finally, the Court should affirm Judge Chushcoff and dismiss what appears to be Mr. Traylor's primary claim, for court ordered reinstatement. This claim fails because the courts decline to exercise jurisdiction to decide these types of disputes.

"As a general rule, courts refrain from interfering in the internal affairs of voluntary associations." *Anderson v. Enterprise Lodge No. 2*, 80 Wn.App. 41, 46, 906 P.2d 962 (1995) (citing *Grand Aerie, Fraternal Order of Eagles v. National Bank*, 13 Wn.2d 131, 135, 124 P.2d 203 (1942)). This judicial policy of non-interference is especially strong where fraternal organizations are concerned because such organizations are based on friendships, and the courts do not order people to be friends:

Fraternities. . .involve primarily an element of fellowship and association which falls outside the law and the review of the courts. This element can have played no small part in the trend of the decisions touching the court's attitude toward the internal workings of such organizations.

Washington Local Lodge No. 104 v. International Bhd. of Boilermakers, 28 Wn.2d 536, 546, 183 P.2d 504 (1947).

At the Trial Court, Judge Chushcoff indicated he considered the reasoning in the unpublished opinion in *Davis v. Pleasant Forest Camping Club*, 171 Wn.App. 1027 (2012), to be persuasive (VRP April 3, 2015, pp. 13–14). We will review *Davis* in this brief both because the Trial Court expressly relied upon it, and because the reasoning, while not binding precedent, is logical and strong, and because *Davis* itself identifies numerous published authorities on this topic.

ł

In *Davis*, the defendant, Pleasant Forest Camping Club, operated a campground for recreational vehicles. Membership in the Club was a "purchased privilege" that involved a valuable monetary/property right similar to a timeshare, the right to use the vacation campground. Davis was a member of the Club. Other members of the club circulated a petition to have Davis ejected because of "intimidation, provocation and the creation of constant confrontation". The Board of the Club mailed a letter to all members notifying them of a special meeting to vote on termination of Davis' membership. The letter contained a ballot and ballot envelope.

At the meeting, the Board abruptly announced that mailed in ballots would not be counted. The Board then distributed new ballots to those that attended. A live vote was held and the members in attendance voted 66-9 for expulsion. The Board then notified Davis that he was expelled.

The Board then held an appeal hearing. At the close of the appeal, the Board reaffirmed the decision to terminate Davis. Davis then sued, claiming, among other things, that the Club violated its bylaws about "who was allowed to vote, whether the right people voted, and whether there was a majority of the people voting who cast votes favor of termination". The trial court granted summary judgment and awarded the Club its attorneys' fees and costs.

The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment, noting that "Courts will not interfere with the decision to expel a member except to ascertain whether the proceedings were regular, in good faith, and not in violation of the laws of the [organization] or the laws of the State", quoting *Grand Aerie v. National Bank of Washington*, 13 Wn.2d 131, 135, 124 P.2d 2003 (1942).

The court also noted, however, that any judicial inquiry into procedural deficiencies (as alleged by Davis and alleged by Mr. Traylor in this case) is to be applied with "considerable judicial constraint":

While questions of whether a voluntary association has followed its bylaws may sometimes be judicially cognizable [citations omitted], this 'procedural deficiency' exception to the general rule against interference typically is applied with considerable judicial restraint.

Davis, at *3 (citing Anderson, supra).

The court stated that "to require compliance with the minutia of the bylaws would be to interfere with the internal operations of the Club to prevent insignificant and unrecompensable breaches of the Club's contract with its members." *Davis*, at *4. And then the Court stated:

The great weight of authority holds that a lack of technical formality in the expulsion proceedings is not in and of itself

a basis for Court review, wherein a Club's regulations...were not strictly followed... [A]bsolute technical accuracy is not required.

Davis, at *5 (citing Kirk v. Jefferson County Med. Soc'y, 577 S.W.2d 419,

422 (Ky. App. 1978); Kitt v. Ohio Operating Engineers, 499 N.E.2d 887,

889 (Ohio App. 1985).

Most importantly, the court noted that by facilitating a membership vote on termination the Board substantially complied with the termination process and the court would not interfere:

By unanimously voting to call for a special meeting, providing notice of the meeting, and facilitating a membership vote on termination, the Board substantially complied with the significant parts of the prescribed termination process and the Club's contract with the Davises.

Davis, at *4.

Finally, the Court concluded that allowing the plaintiff to follow an

internal appeal process cured any possible procedural defects in the

expulsion proceedings:

Furthermore, even if the Club's initial termination proceedings violated the Club's bylaws, the appeals hearing cured any alleged defects...Instead, the Court in *Garvey* simply noted that there is "substantial authority that a private club has a power to remedy procedural errors committed at initial proceedings in subsequent actions."....Here, the Davises were afforded a full appeals hearing during which they were represented by counsel and had the opportunity to present their grounds for appeal. The appeals hearing cured any alleged procedural defects.

Davis at *5 (citing Garvey v. Seattle Tennis Club, 60 Wn.App. 930, 808

P.2d 1155 (1992).

In this case, Mr. Traylor received the full benefit of the Grand Lodge's Constitutional disciplinary process. Mr. Traylor had a Masonic trial. He chose to walk out of the trial in the middle of the proceedings. His appeal was presented to the Grievance and Appeal Committee. The Grievance and Appeal Committee clearly considered his case because they recommended that the suspension be upheld, but reduced by six months. <u>Most importantly</u>, Mr. Traylor's suspension was presented to the entire membership of the Grand Lodge at the Annual Communication. The entire membership of the Grand Lodge at the Annual Communication voted to uphold his suspension.

The Masonic Constitution states, over and over, that the Grand Lodge members voting at the Annual Communication "has[ve] supreme, inherent and absolute legislative, judicial and executive Masonic authority and power". Mr. Traylor agreed to follow the Constitution when he joined the Masons. He agreed to be bound by the democratic vote of the members. That vote – of the entire membership – is Mr. Traylor's "Court of Appeal". He lost his appeal and, per the Grand Lodge Constitution, has no further appeal rights. The Grand Lodge members have made their decision and the Court should not overturn it.

We note that this is the only rational result in this case. The Grand Lodge is a social club. Its very existence depends on its members enjoying each others' company. The Grand Lodge members have known Mr. Traylor for over 25 years. If the members do not like Mr. Traylor (or anyone else), they have to be able to expel him (or them). Otherwise the club will eventually cease to exist. By seeking a court decision on these issues, Mr. Traylor is asking the Court to legislate friendships, and that is exactly why the courts do not intervene in these types of cases.

Mr. Traylor's remedy, if he wants readmission, is to follow the Constitution, and demonstrate in a persuasive manner over time to the members that they should vote to readmit him. His remedy is not in court. By refusing to follow the Constitutional procedure, he is flouting the rules of his organization and causing the organization to spend thousands of dollars of legal expense that the organization can ill afford.

Our Supreme Court has noted that courts should be very hesitant to interfere with social club membership issues because such clubs "involve primarily an element of fellowship and association which falls outside the law and the review of the courts." *Washington Local Lodge No. 104 v. International Bhd. of Boilermakers*, 28 Wn.2d 536, 546, 183 P.2d 504 (1947). Mr. Traylor contends that a past Grand Master, Patrick Hughes, stated on several occasions that "I DO NOT LIKE LONNIE TRAYLOR." (CP 484, 490). Grand Master Hughes may have said this, but it does not change a thing – if the Grand Lodge members simply do not like Lonnie Traylor – whether for good or bad or no reasons – they have the right in a social club to suspend him from their social club. The Grand Lodge members, not civil courts, are Mr. Traylor's appeal court.

5. Mr. Traylor's criticisms of the Grand Lodge vote do not avert summary judgment. Mr. Traylor argues, in essence, that the Grand Lodge should have spent more time discussing Mr. Traylor before voting, and argues that the Grand Lodge members should have been forced to listen to Mr. Traylor personally address the Grand Lodge and forced to listen to someone read Mr. Traylor's letters to the Grand Lodge (Appeal Brief, p. 28).

Mr. Traylor's argument fails because Mr. Traylor submits no evidence, and none exists, that a suspended Mason is entitled to anything other than a vote by the members. The three day Annual Communication covers everything that occurs in a year. The rules do not allow suspended members to read long letters, present testimony, or make long winded speeches. As is set forth in Mr. Lozan's Declaration, and is undisputed, Mr. Traylor's appeal to the Grand Lodge was handled in the same manner as every other appeal to the Grand Lodge. Lozan Dec., ¶ 2 (CP 709). In fact, the Minutes of the Annual Communication show that there was more discussion of Mr. Traylor than any other disciplinary appeal at the Annual Communication. See Annual Communication Minutes, pp. 14, 30, 43, 45, 91 and 135 (CP 786-809).

Mr. Traylor's criticisms of the Grand Lodge vote are analogous to a litigant arguing he was denied his right to appeal in this Court of Appeals because he was not allowed to present hours of live testimony. That is not the way the appellate process works.

Mr. Traylor also contends that there was no evidence that "the Grand Lodge took a [sic] actual majority vote to suspend Appellant." (Traylor Brief, Assignments "h", "j" and Issue 8, pp. 11 and 29). Mr. Traylor contends that the Annual Communication Minutes which state

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